SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEONARD H. DANIEL,  
Petitioner,

CASE NO. 67,341

vs.

HOLMES LUMBER COMPANY;  
FIDELITY & CASUALTY CO.  
OF NEW YORK, and  
AMERICAN MUTUAL LIABILITY  
INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

AUG 5 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

PAJCIC PAJCIC DALE & BALD  
2800 Independent Square  
Jacksonville, Florida 32202  
(904) 358-8881  
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

This case originated as a claim by petitioner, Leonard Daniel, for worker's compensation benefits and medical treatment for a knee injury which Daniel had suffered while working for Holmes Lumber Company in 1978. The deputy commissioner denied the claim on the ground that the claim was barred by the statute of limitations (A.15; R.409) \*/ Daniel appealed to the First District Court of Appeal, and that court elected sua sponte to consider the appeal en banc.

Upon en banc consideration of the case, the twelve judges of the court of appeal were evenly divided. Six judges voted to reverse the denial of benefits on the ground that Daniel's claim was timely under §440.13 and §440.19, Fla. Stat. (1978)\*\*/ because it had been filed within two years of the last payment of compensation on account of the 1978 injury, which occurred in August of 1982 (A.6-13). The other six judges, despite acknowledging precedent within the First District contrary to their position, voted to affirm on the ground that there had previously occurred a period of over two years during which no compensation had been paid and no medical benefits furnished (A.1-5). Under Rule 9.331(a), Fla. R. App. P., the tie vote resulted in affirmance of the deputy's order.

---

\*/ In this brief A.\_\_\_ refers to the appendix. R.\_\_\_ refers to the record on appeal.

\*\*/ The law applicable to Daniel's injury.

Daniel moved for rehearing and suggested the court of appeal certify its decision as one presenting a question of great public importance. The court denied the motion for rehearing (again by a six-six vote) but certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IS A CLAIM FOR WORKER'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS  
TIMELY WHEN IT IS FILED WITHIN TWO YEARS OF  
THE LAST PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION OR FURNISHING  
OF MEDICAL TREATMENT BUT THERE PREVIOUSLY OCCURRED  
A TWO YEAR PERIOD WHEN NO COMPENSATION BENEFITS  
WERE PAID OR MEDICAL TREATMENT FURNISHED? (A.14).

Daniel then filed a notice to invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction. By order entered July 16, 1985, this Court directed the parties to file briefs on the merits.

In 1978 Daniel suffered a compensable injury to his right knee while employed by Holmes Lumber Company ("Holmes") (R.11). The injury was originally diagnosed as a torn meniscus (cartilage) (R.327). Holmes, through its compensation carrier at that time, Fidelity & Casualty Co. of New York ("Fidelity"), furnished medical treatment and paid compensation for a period ending on November 1, 1978.

In November of 1981 Daniel, still employed by Holmes, had a minor knee injury on the job and received medical treatment on November 13 and November 17, 1981 at the expense of Holmes' new compensation carrier, American Mutual Liability Insurance Company ("American") (R.410-411).

Daniel continued to work for Holmes and in 1982 injured his knee again while playing volleyball at home. During Daniel's treatment for this injury it was discovered that Daniel had, in fact, injured his anterior cruciate ligament in the original 1978 accident. Without a functional anterior cruciate ligament Daniel was subject to repeated reinjury. Dr. Rukab and Dr. Brown, Daniel's treating orthopedists, both testified that the 1982 volleyball injury was causally related to the compensable injury in 1978 (R.274-275, 329). Dr. Rukab further testified that Daniel needs surgery to reconstruct his anterior cruciate ligament. Without such surgery his knee will be subject to repeated reinjury (R.273-275).

As Holmes' carrier American paid Daniel temporary total disability benefits from July 8, 1982, through August 23, 1982. At the time it paid such compensation, American knew about the volleyball accident and the 1978 injury (R.82-84, 95).

On November 19, 1982, Daniel filed a claim for temporary total disability benefits and medical treatment. While the claim was made under the 1981 accident as well as the 1978 accident, the medical evidence showed and the deputy found that Daniel's disability and need for medical treatment in 1982 were causally related to the 1978 injury and not to the 1981 injury. Indeed, the deputy found that the volleyball

injury would not have occurred but for the compensable 1978 injury (A.19; R.413). Nonetheless, the deputy denied the claim on the theory that American's acts could not impair Fidelity's rights (A.18-23; R.412-417).

On appeal Daniel argued that the claim was timely because it was filed within two years of the last payment of compensation on account of the 1978 injury and thus meets the express conditions of §§440.13 and 440.19, Fla. Stat.

(1978), which provide that a claim is timely if filed within two years of the last payment of benefits or furnishing of treatment. Daniel asserted that the last payment of benefits occurred on August 23, 1982, when American made its last payment of temporary total benefits. Daniel relied on Johnson v. Division of Forestry, 397 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), pet. for rev. den., 407 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981), which squarely holds that a second carrier can extend the statute of limitations notwithstanding the presence of a "two year gap."

On appeal Fidelity argued that its obligation to provide benefits could not be affected by the acts of American. Fidelity did not argue that Daniel was barred from recovery because of the "two year gap" which was ultimately relied upon by the six "affirmers" on the court of appeal. Instead, Fidelity argued that American could not "waive" the statute of limitations for Fidelity (Fidelity's brief, p.4). Fidelity tried to distinguish Johnson but did not argue that it had been wrongly decided.

In its brief in the court of appeal, Fidelity conceded that voluntary payment of compensation by an employer would extend the limitations period, even after a two year gap:

"It does make sense that an employer can voluntarily waive the otherwise operative effect of the statute of limitations. This is done by knowingly paying compensation or providing remedial attention for the injury upon which benefits are sought. This is so because the employer has the opportunity to either pay or provide attention or not to do that. If the employer does decide to pay or provide attention, then it can be assumed that he is sufficiently aware of the facts and circumstances concerning an injury in excess of two years old (or could have been) so that he did not deem it necessary to take advantage of the statute." (Fidelity brief, p.4).

Thus, in voting to recede from Johnson and reinstate the "two year gap" theory, the six affirmers on the court of appeal adopted a position which none of the parties had advocated.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the court of appeal should be quashed because, under the clear language of §§440.13(d) and 440.19(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1978), a claim is timely filed if it is filed within two years of the last payment of compensation on account of the injury. In this case such payment occurred in August of 1982. The statutes contain no reference to the so-called two year gap.

Watson v. Delta Airlines, 288 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1973), held that Miller v. Brewer Co. of Fla., 122 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1960), which was decided on the basis of a two year gap, is no longer the law and that a claimant has two years from the last payment of compensation in which to file a claim.

The affirmers expressly concede that their position flies in the face of established, recent precedent in the First District Court of Appeal. Johnson v. Division of Forestry, 397 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), pet. for rev. den., 407 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981), and Bowman v. Food Fair Stores, 400 So.2d 793 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), pet. for rev. den., 412 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1982), squarely hold the two year gap irrelevant.

There are sound policy reasons to reject the two year gap theory. The reversers' reading of the statutes is in harmony with the remedial purposes of the workers' compensation law and allows decision of claims on their merits without doing substantial violence to the employer's interest in having claims laid to rest.

The First District's about-face from its recent precedents disserves the interest of judicial constancy and certainty and this Court should restore some order in the statute of limitations area by quashing that court's departure from precedent.

#### ARGUMENT

UNDER A PROPER CONSTRUCTION OF §440.13(3)(b) AND 440.19(1)(a) DANIEL'S CLAIM WAS TIMELY BECAUSE IT WAS FILED WITHIN TWO YEARS OF THE LAST PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION ON ACCOUNT OF THE COMPENSABLE 1978 INJURY.

The timeliness of Daniel's claim for compensation and remedial attention is governed by §440.19(1)(a) and §440.13(d), Fla. Stat. (1978), respectively. In identical language these sections provided:\*/

---

\*/ The two limitations provisions have since been combined in §440.19, Fla. Stat.

". . .if payment of compensation has been made or remedial attention has been furnished by the employer without an award on account of such injury a claim may be filed within 2 years after the date of the last payment of compensation or within 2 years of the date of the last remedial attention furnished by the employer. . . ."

Since the 1982 compensation payments were made for a condition causally related to the 1978 accident, Daniel's claim was made within two years of the last payment of compensation on account of the 1978 injury.

The twelve judges of the court of appeal agreed that the 1982 compensation payments related to the compensable 1978 injury. Similarly, reversers and affirmers alike recognized that a payment on behalf of the employer by a successor carrier would extend the statute of limitations in the absence of a two year gap.\*/ The only point which separated the affirmers from the reversers was whether the existence of a two year gap overcomes the plain language of §§440.13(d) and 440.19(1)(a).

The reversers' opinion that the existence of a two year gap is immaterial is in harmony with the statutory

---

\*/ While the affirmers did not say this expressly, it is clear from their opinion that they correctly attached no significance to the fact that Holmes had happened to change carriers. It has been clear since Iowa National Mutual Ins. Co. v. Webb, 174 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1965) that a change in carriers is immaterial to the claimant's rights because it is the employer that furnishes benefits through its insurance carriers.

language and the case law since this Court's decision in Watson v. Delta Airlines, 288 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1973). Neither §440.13 nor §440.19 contains any reference to a two year gap, although it would have been a simple matter for the legislature to have made it clear that the two year gap is relevant. Daniel's claim is timely if the statute means what it says.

The affirmers attempt to deal with the statutory language as follows:

"The plain language of the statute says that the two year limitation starts after the last voluntary payment. It does not say that a new two year claims period commences upon any future voluntary payment." (A.4).

If we apply such reasoning to Daniel's case, we would consider the November, 1978 compensation payment to be the last voluntary payment despite the fact that voluntary payments were made in 1982. However, this construction does not withstand analysis, for it depends upon the premise that there can be payments after the last payment. It is clear that if "last" is given its plain meaning, Daniel's claim was filed within two years of the last payment of compensation. Indeed, two unanimous panels of the First District Court of Appeal have already held that "last" does indeed mean last.

In Johnson v. Division of Forestry, 397 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), pet. for rev. den., 407 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981), the court held that the voluntary furnishing of medical treatment had "restarted the clock" after a hiatus of over

three years during which no benefits had been paid or medical treatment furnished.\*/ The unanimous opinion noted that:

"[t]he statutory language is clear that it is the last furnishing of such remedial treatment or payment of compensation from which the two-year limitation is measured" (397 So.2d at 763).

The First District Court of Appeal reached the same result in Bowman v. Food Fair Stores, 400 So.2d 793 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), pet. for rev. den., 412 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1982). In Bowman the court reversed the denial of a claim on the ground that the voluntary payment of compensation after a gap of over four years had renewed the limitations period. The court held:

"The statute clearly indicates that where payment of compensation or remedial treatment has been furnished by the employer without an award, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of such compensation or after the date of the last remedial treatment furnished by the employer. . . . We therefore conclude that it was error to dismiss the claim." (400 So.2d at 795).

The Johnson decision was based in part upon this Court's decision in Watson v. Delta Airlines, 288 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1973). Watson is this Court's most recent pronouncement

---

\*/ Johnson also holds that a later carrier for the same employer can renew the limitations period on an earlier injury. We shall not discuss that aspect of the decision since even the affirmers rejected Fidelity's argument that American could not affect its rights.

on the statute of limitations question. Although the case can be narrowly read not to pass on the significance of a two-year gap, this Court's reasoning is consistent with the position of Daniel and the six reversers that the statute means what it says.

The essential facts of Watson are as follows. Watson sustained compensable knee injuries in August of 1967 and on February 1, 1968. Medical treatment was voluntarily provided in 1967 but neither medical treatment nor compensation was furnished immediately after the 1968 injury. On December 18, 1969, Watson again injured his knee in a non-compensable accident. The employer furnished him medical treatment between January of 1970, and April of 1970, and paid temporary total disability benefits from February 25, 1970, to April 20, 1970, and permanent partial disability benefits based upon a 5% impairment of the left leg beginning April 20, 1970. All of these payments were voluntary. Watson filed his claim on May 25, 1970.

The Judge of Industrial Claims denied the claim on the ground that more than two years had elapsed between the February 1, 1968, injury and the filing of the claim. The JIC found that the voluntary payment of benefits and furnishing of treatment did not reactivate the statute of limitations, based upon this court's earlier ruling in Miller v. Brewer Co. of Fla., 122 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1960). He also found that the

benefits paid and treatment furnished related only to the non-compensable 1969 accident. The JIC's order was affirmed by the Industrial Relations Commission.

This Court quashed the order of the Industrial Relations Commission. It held that the JIC had erred in relying on Miller v. Brewer because §440.13(d), Fla. Stat. had been amended since the Miller case to make it clear that a claim for medical treatment was timely if filed within two years of the last voluntary payment of compensation or furnishing of treatment.\*/

The Watson decision's discussion of Miller shows that the Watson court did not consider the two year gap a bar to recovery. In Miller there was a four year gap yet, in its exhaustive treatment of Miller, Watson did not even mention this gap. Instead of distinguishing Miller on the basis of the gap, Watson distinguished Miller on the ground that §440.13(d) had been amended in 1963 to make it clear that a voluntary payment could renew the limitation period on a claim for medical treatment. This court stated:

---

\*/ Miller involved a claim for medical treatment only. At the time Miller was decided, §440.13(d) did not (in contrast to §440.19(1)(a)) contain language expressly providing that a claim could be filed within two years of the last voluntary payment of compensation or furnishing of treatment without an award.

"It was §440.13(3)(b) regarding the remedial remedy that was involved in Miller which was relied upon by the JIC who failed to note that Miller was under the former statute which did not include then, (as §440.19(1)(a) did for 'compensation') the present exceptions now also in §440.13(3)(b). Thus Miller no longer applies and is distinguished from our case." (288 So.2d at 194).

This court then went on to suggest that Miller's holding had been entirely vitiated by the 1963 amendment to 440.13(d) which inserted the reference to voluntary payments already present in 440.19(1)(a), noting that the amendment may have been intended to change the Miller result:

"It may well be that the 1963 amendment was the result of the denial of relief in 1960 Miller, in order to provide medical recovery as well as compensation in those instances of voluntary payment of compensation or voluntary provision of remedial treatment by the employer which begin a two-year statute of limitations." (Id.)

The Watson opinion concluded its lengthy discussion of Miller by stating unequivocally that a claim is timely if filed within two years of the last payment of compensation or furnishing of treatment:

"Both statutes now provide the same express exceptions for recovery more than two years after the injury where there has been either compensation or remedial treatment 'without an award,' in which case the two-year statute of limitations runs from the last voluntary compensation payment or last remedial treatment so furnished by the employer without an award." (288 So.2d at 195).

Having held in 1972 that Miller has been retired to the archives of outdated appellate decisions by a statute passed in 1963, the Watson court would undoubtedly be surprised to learn that in 1985 a claimant has been denied needed medical treatment and deserved compensation benefits on the basis of the Miller decision. Yet, that is exactly the effect of the affirmers' action in this case.

There is another indication in Watson that the Watson court would reject the result reached by the affirmers. At the conclusion of its opinion the Watson court notes:

"Thus, on the dual basis of 1) 'remedial' attention having been voluntarily furnished within the two years required by the same exceptions within the two statutes, and 2) compensation voluntarily paid 'without an award' also within such two years, the claimant falls within the statutory exceptions in §440.13(3)(b) and §440.19(1)(a) and is within such 'extended' two year statute of limitations as a basis for recovery." (288 So.2d at 196).

From this passage it is clear that the Watson court felt that the commencement of compensation payments on February 25, 1970, over two years from the date of the accident, furnished an independent ground for extending the limitations period without regard to the medical treatment furnished within two years of the accident. As the reversers correctly point out:

"On the law, the Watson court held that the lower tribunal was also in error in concluding that the payment of compensation benefits commencing February 25, 1970

(more than two years from the February 1, 1968 injury) did not reactivate the statute of limitations, since his claim was filed on May 25, 1970, thus within two years of compensation voluntarily paid without an award." (A.10).

There are sound policy reasons for this Court to return to the wisdom of Watson, Johnson, and Bowman. First, the Worker's Compensation Act is remedial and doubts as to its construction should be resolved to provide benefits to injured workers. Thomas Smith Farms v. Alday, 182 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1966); Topeka Inn Management v. Pate, 414 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Second, a statute of limitations defense, by its nature, is a technical defense which bars claims which are valid on their merits. Far from occupying the favored position accorded it by the affirmers, the statute of limitations is actually the defense most easily waived. Under §440.19(2), Fla. Stat. (1983), the defense is lost if not presented at the first hearing. Third, the employer has little interest in the claim's repose where he himself has recommenced benefits or treatment.

The legislature apparently agrees that the two year gap theory is poor public policy and has given its tacit approval to the Johnson holding. The reversers note that Johnson "has survived through two sessions of our state legislature" (A.7). Indeed, in 1983 the legislature amended

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