IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO: 67,341

en J. With SEP \$ 1965 CLERN, SUPPLEME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

LEONARD H. DANIEL,

Petitioner,

vs.

HOLMES LUMBER COMPANY; FIDELITY & CASUALTY CO. OF NEW YORK, and AMERICAN MUTUAL LIABILITY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, HOLMES LUMBER COMPANY AND FIDELITY & CASUALTY CO. OF NEW YORK

WEBB, SWAIN & O'QUINN, P.A.

BY: WILLIAM R. SWAIN and DAVID A. McCRANIE 630 American Heritage Life Building Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 355-6605

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Watson v. Delta Airlines, Inc., infra</u>, is not controlling in this case because it did not involve a situation where, as here, the statute of limitations had already run prior to any voluntary payments of compensation. Nor can there be said to have been any sort of legislative endorsement of <u>Watson</u> or <u>Johnson v. Division of Forestry</u>, <u>infra</u>. Rather, this Court has specifically held in <u>Hodges v. State</u> <u>Road Department</u>, <u>infra</u>, that voluntary payments of compensation are not sufficient to revive a statute of limitations which has already run before the benefits are provided or a claim has been filed.

This view is in accord with that of a majority of the states which have had occasion to address the issue. The objective of the statute being to protect the claimant who reasonably refrains from making claim because of the receipt of benefits voluntarily supplied, it is the majority view that no claimant can allege that his failure to make timely application was excused by something that happened after the claim was already barred.

Further, a reversal of the Deputy Commissioner in this case would offend fundamental notions of fair play and due process of law. The payments made by American in August

-vi-

1982 were the result of a good faith but mistaken belief that they were owing to the Claimant as a result of his 11/3/81 injury. Although <u>American</u> was <u>not</u> estopped from asserting <u>its</u> defenses to further liability as a result of these payments, under the position urged by the Petitioner, those payments <u>would</u> have the effect of estopping <u>Fidelity</u> from asserting the statute of limitations which had run almost two years earlier.

#### ARGUMENT

VOLUNTARY PAYMENTS OF COMPENSATION MADE BY A CARRIER NOT ON THE RISK AT THE TIME OF A CLAIM-ANT'S ORIGINAL INJURY DO NOT REVIVE A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WHICH HAD EXPIRED ALMOST TWO YEARS BEFORE THE VOLUNTARY PAYMENTS WERE MADE OR A CLAIM FOR BENEFITS WAS FILED.

The controversy in the instant appeal centers around the proper application of Sections 440.13(3)(b) and 440.19(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1977), to the facts of this case. It is the position of the Petitioner and The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers that payment of workers' compensation benefits by a carrier which was not on the risk at the time of the Claimant's injury is sufficient to revive a statute of limitations which had run over two years before the initial claim was ever filed. That position is unsupported in law or in equity, and the decision of the Deputy Commissioner should therefore be affirmed.

Petitioner relies primarily on <u>Watson v. Delta Airlines</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 288 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1973), and its progeny, <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>Division of Forestry</u>, 397 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). In the instant case, of course, the "affirmers" on the First District Court of Appeal recognized that <u>Johnson</u> had been wrongly decided and elected to recede from its holding since it was based on a misreading of this Court's opinion in Watson.

-1-

The pertinent facts in Watson may be outlined as follows:

- 1963 Claimant sustained a non-compensable knee injury while playing football.
- August 1967 Reinjury of claimant's knee; employer provided medical services voluntarily and no claim was filed.
- 2/1/68 Date of accident; compensable injury to claimant's knee; no medical services provided and no claim was filed.
- 12/18/69 Non-work related, non-compensable injury
  to claimant's knee.
- January 1970 Medical treatment provided at authorization of employer on account of 2/1/68 accident.
- 2/25/70 Commencement of voluntary payment of TTD benefits.
- 5/25/70 Claim for Benefits filed.

Based on <u>Miller v. Brewer Co. of Fla., Inc.</u>, 122 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1960), the Judge of Industrial Claims denied relief to Watson because more than two years had elapsed after the injury of 2/1/68 before the claim was filed. On review by the Industrial Relations Commission, the order was affirmed.

The <u>Watson</u> court reversed both the JIC and the IRC, holding that <u>Miller</u> had been legislatively overruled by the 1963 amendment to Section 440.13(3)(b), Florida Statutes. Prior to 1963, the statute did not have the exception, which it does now, to provide for a two-year "extended" statute of

-2-

limitations from the last voluntary payment of compensation or furnishing of remedial care.

The Petitioner contends that the <u>Watson</u> court was apparently unconcerned with the fact that in <u>Miller</u> there was a four-year gap between the last payment of compensation and the furnishing of further remedial treatment by the carrier. The fact is, however, that the <u>Miller</u> court simply never reached the "gap" issue because of the lack of an "extended" statute of limitations provision in the pre-1963 statute. This was implicit in the Watson decision.

The Petitioner, The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers, and the "dissenting" judges of the First District Court of Appeal also misread the "dual basis" of the <u>Watson</u> holding contained at 288 So.2d 196. Contrary to their assertions, this is <u>not</u> a holding that the payment of compensation by the employer commencing on 2/25/70 was independently sufficient to revive a claim which was already barred by the statute of limitations. This "dual basis" must be read in light of the actual language of Section 440.19(1)(a):

> The right to compensation for disability under this chapter shall be barred unless a claim therefor is filed within two years after the time of injury, except that if a payment of compensation has been made or remedial treatment has been furnished by the employer without an award on account

> > -3-

of such injury a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of compensation or after the date of the last remedial treatment furnished by the employer. (Emphasis added.)

Thus, it can be seen that under the terms of the statute, <u>either</u> the furnishing of remedial care <u>or</u> the voluntary payment of compensation will <u>each</u> be sufficient to begin a new two-year period of limitations. On the facts of <u>Watson</u>, a new two-year period began to run as to both remedial care <u>and</u> compensation in January 1970 when the Claimant was treated by Dr. Kurzner. Therefore, the furnishing of compensation beginning on 2/25/70 was <u>not</u> made <u>after</u> a two-year period during which no compensation benefits were paid or medical treatment furnished. Simply stated, <u>Watson</u> is distinguishable from the case at bar because it did not involve the "gap" situation presented herein.

<u>Watson</u> is further distinguishable from this case in that the employer therein was evidently self-insured. Thus, assuming <u>arguendo</u> that the voluntary payments made in <u>Watson</u> were made <u>after</u> a "two-year gap" and that such payments were sufficient to begin a new two-year period of limitations, that rule should not apply herein. The payments made by Delta Airlines were paid by it, not by a workers' compensation

-4-

carrier over which it had no control, and they presumably were made with full knowledge that the statute of limitations had already run. It would be a misreading of <u>Watson</u> to allow the actions of American to bind Fidelity for at least two additional years when Fidelity had no knowledge of or control over American's actions.

The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers and the Petitioner strenuously object that the "affirmers" of the First District Court of Appeal adopted a position not advocated by any of the parties when the court receded from <u>Johnson</u>, <u>supra</u>. Such an objection is not well-founded in that it assumes that an appellate court of this state may not raise issues <u>sua</u> <u>sponte</u> and decide cases on the basis of those issues. This is simply not the law in Florida.

That argument also necessarily raises another issue, and that is the effect of <u>Johnson</u> in this Court. It is readily apparent that whether this case was rightly or wrongly decided (and certainly these respondents agree with the "affirmers" of the First District Court of Appeal that it was wrongly decided) is of no moment in this case as this Court is not bound by that decision in any event.

Nevertheless, a close reading of <u>Johnson</u> will reveal that it is distinguishable from the instant case. In <u>Johnson</u>, the claimant had received two distinctly different injuries,

-5-

a 1972 injury to his neck and a 1974 injury to his wrist. The employer provided further remedial care for the neck injury in 1977, after the statute of limitations had already expired. Since the two injuries involved such distinctly different areas of the body, it is reasonable to assume that the 1977 remedial care was furnished <u>knowing</u> that the statute of limitations had already expired. In the instant case, all three injuries were to the Petitioner's right knee. Consequently, in the absence of expert medical testimony, there could have been no knowing payment of benefits and therefore no knowing waiver of the statute of limitations defense.

The contention is also made that the holdings of <u>Watson</u> and <u>Johnson</u> have somehow been legislatively endorsed by virtue of the fact that the statutes have been amended since those decisions. This argument is clearly without merit. First, as shown above, <u>Watson</u> and <u>Johnson</u> do not stand for the proposition asserted by the Petitioner, so there could be no legislative endorsement of the Petitioner's position herein. Second, there is authority for the proposition that in re-enacting a statute, the legislature is presumed to be aware of the construction placed upon it by <u>Supreme Court</u> and, in the absence of clear expressions to the contrary,

-6-

is presumed to have adopted the construction placed on it by <u>that court</u>. <u>Davies v. Bossert</u>, 449 So.2d 418 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). However, the general rule is that re-enactment of a statute after construction by an <u>intermediate</u> court (such as the First District Court of Appeal) is <u>not</u> a legislative adoption of such construction. <u>Rea v. Walker</u>, 215 Ala. 672, 112 So. 211 (1927); 73 Am. Jur. 2d, <u>Statutes</u>, §164 (1974). Therefore, there could have been no legislative adoption of the Johnson holding.

Not only are <u>Watson</u> and <u>Johnson</u> not controlling, but also there is direct authority from this Court to support the Deputy's decision herein. It is significant that neither the Petitioner nor The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers has addressed <u>Hodges v. State Road Dept.</u>, 171 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1965). There, the employer had made disability payments after the statute of limitations had run. This Court specifically held that these payments were mere gratuities for the benefit of the employee and did <u>not</u> amount to a waiver of the statute of limitations. It is also important to note that this decision was rendered at a time when Section 440.19(1)(a) contained the same "extended" two-year period of limitations when voluntary payments are made as is contained in the version of Section 440.19(1)(a) which is

-7-

pertinent to this appeal. Thus, this Court has <u>specifically</u> held that voluntary payments of compensation are <u>not</u> sufficient to revive a statute of limitations which has already expired before the benefits are provided or a claim has been filed.

Having demonstrated that the Petitioner's arguments herein are not supported either legislatively or by judicial decision, we must nevertheless face another inquiry; that is, assuming <u>arguendo</u> that <u>Watson</u> dictates a result contrary to that urged by these respondents and that <u>Hodges</u> is not controlling, what <u>should</u> be the law on this issue?

In his treatise on workers' compensation, Professor Larson notes:

> Once the claim has been barred by the passage of time, the majority of states hold that the claim will not be revived and a new period will not be set in motion by the furnishing of medical service years after the injury. The objective of the statute being to protect the claimant who reasonably refrains from making claim because of the receipt of benefits voluntarily supplied, no claimant can allege that his failure to make timely application was excused by something that happened after the claim was already barred. Moreover, since the employer was under no obligation to furnish such benefits once the right to them was barred, it cannot be said that he provided them as voluntary compensation benefits. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Section 78.43(i) (Emphasis added.) (1983).

As to the voluntary payment of compensation benefits after a period of limitations has expired, Professor Larson likewise notes:

> [V]oluntary payment or promise of compensation made only after the claim period has expired has been held ineffectual to waive the statutory bar. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Section 78.71 (1983).

The majority position on the issue presented herein is clearly illustrated in Zanni v. Rudolph Poultry Equip. Co., 105 N.J. Super. 325, 252 A.2d 212 (1969). In that case, the claimant was injured on 10/24/64 while in the course of his employment. The claimant was provided the appropriate medical care, with the last treatment occurring on 3/9/65. However, the claimant was again treated for the same injury on 3/23/67, and the claim for benefits was subsequently filed on 4/8/67. The court followed the majority rule and held that the furnishing of medical care on 3/23/67 did not operate to revive a claim which had already been barred under that state's two-year statute of limitations. Also see, Riccioni v. American Cyanamide Co., 26 N.J. Super. 1, 96 A.2d 765 (1953); Threadgill v. Lexington Metal Products Co., Inc., 632 S.W. 2d 550 (Tenn. 1982); Woodard v. ITT Higbie Mfg. Co., 609 S.W. 2d 115 (Ark. App. 1980).

-9-

In addition to the foregoing, a reversal of the Deputy Commissioner would be particularly inequitable in this case. As stated in the Deputy Commissioner's order and in the opinions of the First District Court of Appeal, the Petitioner's initial industrial accident herein occurred on 8/15/78 at a time when Fidelity was on the risk, and the last payment of compensation by Fidelity occurred on 11/1/78. American went on the risk for Holmes Lumber Company in March 1979. On 11/3/81, the Claimant sustained a second compensable injury to his knee, for which American furnished medical care on 11/13/81 and 11/17/81<sup>\*</sup>. In July 1982 (after the occurrence of the non-compensable volleyball accident of 7/6/82) the Claimant complained to Holmes Lumber Company of knee problems which he related to the accident of 8/15/78 and 11/3/81. Holmes relayed this information to American. The Claimant did not inform Holmes of the 7/6/82 accident at that time.

American thereupon obtained a copy of the First Report of Accident on the 11/3/81 accident, and on 8/13/82 began

<sup>\*</sup>As pointed out by the "dissenters" at 10 F.L.W. 1112, fn. 2, Petitioner has <u>never</u> contended that these payments were "remedial treatment" under the statute so as to recommence the two-year period for filing a claim. Consequently, we are concerned here only with the payments made by American in August 1982.

paying TTD benefits (retroactively to 7/8/82 and continuing). On this point, the testimony of Mr. Rick Hodges, the claims manager for American, is particularly noteworthy:

> Q. Would you tell us, Mr. Hodges, why... you decided to commence payment of temporary total at that time?

[Objection omitted]

A. At that time I learned he was starting to lose time from work, I think the first thing I did was obtain a copy of the medical, of the initial injury report of 1981 from our district office, found that he did have a knee injury in 1981, received treatment for his knee... which I assumed was an aggravation of the 1981 injury. So I requested we begin temporary total benefits. (R: 95-96) (Emphasis added.)

American continued to pay TTD benefits through 8/23/82, at which time compensation benefits were suspended on the grounds that the Claimant was thought by American to be able to return to work. On 9/24/82, American took the Claimant's statement, determined to its satisfaction that the Claimant's problems were <u>not</u> related to the compensable injury of 11/3/81, and, on 11/24/82, controverted further benefits on that basis. American thus determined, and the Deputy so found in his order (R: 411-412), that the Claimant's condition as of July and August 1982 was <u>not</u> related to the accident of 11/3/81. Therefore, <u>the payments made by American to the Claimant in</u>

-11-

# August 1982 should never have been made by it at all. They were a mistake.

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